INTRODUCTION

Stephen J. Wilson received a Deed from Terra Firma, Inc. Terra

Firma) to the following described real property located in Cowlitz County,

Washington:

PARCEL A:

Lot 2 of short subdivision No. 91- 001, as recorded

in Volume 6 of short plats,  page 83,  under

Auditor' s File No. 910204032; and being a portion
of the George Barlow D.L.C.;  together with all

tidelands of the second class, situated in front of,

adjacent to or abutting the above described uplands
and as conveyed in Parcel " J" of said deed, Volume

977, page 242 ( fee no. 8400924042).

PARCEL B:

All that portion of George Barlow D.L.C.  and

George Fisher D.LC.  lying outside of Columbia
River Dike of Consolidated Diking Improvement
District No. 1, said dike being described by Deed
in Volume 121,  page 391,  Auditor' s File No.

51256;

EXCEPTING THEREFROM that portion lying
northerly of a line that is parallel to and 1, 765. 70
feet south of the south line of Section 22,

Township 8 North, Range 3 West of the W.M.

The trial court ruled on summary judgment that he received the tidelands

abutting what is described as Parcel B even though there is no reference to

those tidelands in the description of Parcel B and a specific mention of

tidelands in the description of Parcel A; even though such an interpretation
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of the Deed would lead to absurd results; and in the face of an opinion of

an expert that the Deed could not be interpreted as the trial court chose to

interpret it.  The trial court' s decision must be reversed and title must be

quieted in Keystone Properties I, LLC (Keystone).

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignment of Error No. 1:  The Court erred in entering the Order

Granting Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment.

Assignment of Error No.  2:   The Court erred in granting the

Judgment Quieting Title.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the Deed containing the following legal description

convey title to tidelands abutting Parcel B:

PARCEL A:

Lot 2 of short subdivision No. 91- 001, as recorded

in Volume 6 of short plats,  page 83,  under

Auditor' s File No. 910204032; and being a portion
of the George Barlow D.L.C.;  together with all

tidelands of the second class, situated in front of,

adjacent to or abutting the above described uplands
and as conveyed in Parcel " J" of said deed, Volume

977, page 242 ( fee no. 8400924042).

PARCEL B:

All that portion of George Barlow D.L.C.  and

George Fisher D. LC.  lying outside of Columbia
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River Dike of Consolidated Diking Improvement
District No. 1, said dike being described by Deed
in Volume 121,  page 391,  Auditor' s File No.

51256;

EXCEPTING THEREFROM that portion lying
northerly of a line that is parallel to and 1, 765. 70
feet south of the south line of Section 22,

Township 8 North, Range 3 West of the W.M.

2. Can any extrinsic evidence be used to determine whether

the language describing Parcel B included adjacent tidelands and, if so, to

what use can the extrinsic evidence be put?

3. Does the doctrine of merger by deed preclude consideration

of the parties'  discussions and the purchase and sale agreement that

preceded the grant of the deed?

4. Did Mr.  Wilson waive any rights he may have had to

acquire any property in the transaction other than what was set out in the

legal description of the deed?

5. Was a genuine issue of material fact presented concerning

Issue No. 1?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I.    The History.

Tidelands are the area between ordinary high tide and extreme low

tide.   The uplands are the area to the shore side of the tidelands.   The

3



underwater area is called the bed.  Tidelands are between the uplands and

the bed.   Stoebuck & Weaver, Real Estate: Transactions 18 Wash.Prac.

13. 5. Ownership of tidelands can be divorced from the ownership of the

abutting uplands.  The tidelands area is sometimes used by logging

companies to hold logs on rafts headed for the mill.  (CP 301, 345- 46)

This case concerns property that fronts on the Columbia River in

the Barlow Point area of Cowlitz County.   The State of Washington

conveyed all tidelands in the area to Long-Bell Timber Company in 1923.

CP 607- 608)  In 1984,  International Paper Company deeded land and

tidelands in the area to International Paper Realty Corporation ( the 1984

Deed).  The tidelands were described in Parcel " J" of the legal description

as " all tidelands of the Second Class, situated in front of adjacent to or

abutting upon the following described uplands," which uplands were then

described.  ( CP 611- 19)

Between February and November of 1986,  International Paper

Realty Corporation conveyed property included within the uplands

described in Parcel " J" of the 1984 Deed in six different deeds.  These will

be referred to as the Exception Deeds.   The legal description in each

Exception Deed explicitly included tidelands abutting that parcel.   The

legal description of the first Exception Deed included the language

TOGETHER with all tide lands of the second class,  situated front,

4



adjacent to or abutting upon the property herein conveyed" to describe the      •

adjacent tidelands.  ( CP 310- 312)  The legal descriptions in the other five

Exception Deeds refer to the adjacent tidelands in the following language:

Together with all Tide Lands of the Second Class situated

front, adjacent to or abutting the above described uplands;
and as covered in Parcel " J" of Deed Volume 977, page

242 ( Fee # 840924042).

CP 302- 303, 305- 308, 313- 324; 470- 473)

International Paper Realty Corporation conveyed its holdings in

the area to Robert P.  Radakovich in 1987  ( the 1987 Deed).  The

conveyance included tidelands described in Parcel  " H"  of the legal

description.  That description is identical to that contained in Parcel " J" of

the 1984 Deed except that it contains language excepting out the property

that had been conveyed under the Exception Deeds in 1986.  ( CP 620- 32)

The elder Mr. Radakovich subsequently conveyed the property to Terra

Firma in 1996.  The legal description includes Parcel " H" as described in

the 1987 Deed.   In fact, much of the legal description of the deed is a

direct copy of the legal description of the 1987 Deed. ( CP 633- 40)

II.   The 2006 Transaction.

Robert Radakovich II is the son of Robert P.  Radakovich,  the

Grantee of the 1987 Deed.  Both have been associated with Terra Firma.

The elder Mr. Radakovich has been a principal while his son has been an

5



officer.   (CP 327, 331)  In 2006, the younger Mr. Radakovich agreed to

sell some of Terra Firma' s property to Mr. Wilson for $ 88, 700.00.  They

also orally agreed that Terra Firma would retain an option to repurchase

the property.  (CP 368- 369)

Vincent Penta, an attorney in Longview, prepared a Real Estate

Purchase and Sale Agreement for the transaction.  Under the terms of the

agreement, Mr. Penta represented Mr. Wilson. As the agreement states:

REPRESENTATION BY COUNSEL:  Seller is hereby
advised that Purchaser is represented by the Law Office
of Vincent L.  Penta,  P. S.  in the preparation of this

document and Seller is advised to seek his own Counsel

prior to signing if he has any questions or concerns re
this Agreement.

CP 389- 390, 392- 393)  The agreement contains no legal description in so

many words.  A version of the agreement containing two exhibits is

attached to Mr. Wilson' s declaration.  ( CP 97- 100)  Two copies have been

found in the records of Cowlitz County Title Company.  One contains no

exhibits at all. The other has an Exhibit A consisting of a map of the

parcels in question.  ( CP 336, 389- 93)  A copy in the files of Mr. Wilson' s

lender has no exhibits attached.  ( CP 337, 468- 69) The agreed upon option

is not contained within the Real Estate Purchase Agreement.

Mr. Wilson' s lender sought a lender' s title insurance policy.   Mr.

Penta relayed that request to Cowlitz County Title.  Arlene Reynolds, a

6



title officer with Cowlitz County Title, then prepared the legal description

for the preliminary commitment for title insurance for that lender' s policy.

CP 354- 356)

Mr.  Penta acted as escrow for the transaction.    The escrow

instructions signed by both parties " instructed ( him) to rely on the Title

Report issued by Cowlitz County Title ( that Ms. Reynolds prepared) as to

the legal descriptions for the two parcels which are the subject of this

transaction. . ."  The instructions that Mr. Wilson signed also contained

language that he:

Stipulates that all conditions and contingencies as set forth

in the above referenced Purchase and Sale Agreement

have been met or waived to the satisfaction of all parties to

this transaction. . .

CP 360, CP 375, 451- 452, 459- 460)

Mr. Penta prepared a Statutory Warranty Deed for the transaction.

The younger Mr. Radakovich signed it on February 22, 2006.  Mr. Wilson

also signed the deed as follows:

Approved and accepted

s/ Stephen Jeffrey Wilson
STEPHEN JEFFREY WILSON

The deed contained the following legal description:

7



PARCEL A:

Lot 2 of short subdivision No. 91- 001, as recorded

in Volume 6 of short plats,  page 83,  under

Auditor' s File No. 910204032; and being a portion
of the George Barlow D.L.C.;  together with all

tidelands of the second class, situated in front of

adjacent to or abutting the above described uplands
and as conveyed in Parcel " J" of said deed, Volume

977, page 242 ( fee no. 8400924042).

PARCEL B:

All that portion of George Barlow D.L.C.  and

George Fisher D.LC.  lying outside of Columbia
River Dike of Consolidated Diking Improvement
District No. 1, said dike being described by Deed
in Volume 121,  page 391,  Auditor' s File No.

51256;

EXCEPTING THEREFROM that portion lying
northerly of a line that is parallel to and 1, 765. 70
feet south of the south line of Section 22,

Township 8 North, Range 3 West of the W.M.

The deed also noted that each parcel identified in the legal description was

a separate tax parcel.   Parcel A was identified as tax parcel No.  1- 713-

0100 while Parcel B was No. 1- 714- 0100.  ( CP 376- 77)  Mr. Wilson had

seen the legal description before he signed the Deed, and he read it before

he signed the deed.  He also signed a Promissory Note and Deed of Trust

for the loan from Twin City Bank.  The Deed of Trust contains the same

legal description as that on that on the Deed.  The Deed was recorded on

February 23, 2006.  ( CP 360, 422- 430)
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III.  The 2012 Transaction.

The Port of Longview (the Port) became interested in acquiring the

tidelands in front of Parcel B.  It obtained a title guarantee from Chicago

Title Insurance Company in June of 2011. That document stated that those

tidelands were owned by Terra Firma.  (CP 209, 215- 219)

On January 9, 2012, Mr. Wilson entered into a purchase and sale

agreement with the predecessor of Barlow Point Land Company, LLC,

Barlow Point), to sell the property he had acquired from Terra Firma for

755, 000.00.  ( CP 366)  Meanwhile, Terra Firma conveyed the tidelands

abutting Parcel B to Keystone on January 30, 2012.  ( CP 7)

Barlow Point' s surveyor, Daniel Renton, was concerned about the

ownership of the tidelands abutting Parcel B.  Seth Woolson, the attorney

for Barlow Point, asked Terry Woodruff at Cowlitz County Title to clarify

the ownership.  Mr. Woodruff responded by saying that the 2006 Deed to

Mr. Wilson did not convey the tidelands in front of Parcel B.  Mr. Wilson

then asked Mr.  Woodruff to prepare a chain of title certificate.    He

completed that document on January 31, 2012.  It stated that the tidelands

abutting Parcel B had been conveyed by Terra Firma to Keystone, and it

did not mention the 2006 Deed from Terra Firma to Mr. Wilson.  (CP 349,

396, 605- 06)  Mr. Woodruff later changed his conclusion on February 8,

2012, to state that Mr. Wilson did own the tidelands in front of Parcel B
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and that Cowlitz County Title would insure the conveyance of those

tidelands.  ( CP 351, 399)

Mr. Wilson executed a statutory warranty deed in favor of Barlow

Point that was recorded on February 16, 2012.  The legal description is

identical to that attached to the 2006 Deed.  ( CP 58)  Barlow Point and the

Port subsequently entered into a boundary line agreement.  ( CP 226- 239)

IV.  Course of Proceedings.

Barlow Point and the Port both sued to quiet title in the tidelands

abutting Parcel B.  ( CP 3- 29)  Keystone answered.  ( CP 30- 31)  Barlow

Point and the Port then moved for summary judgment.  (CP 32- 79)

The parties introduced declarations from three persons on how the

language of the legal description on the 2006 Deed should be interpreted.

Barlow Point and the Port submitted a declaration from Calvin Hampton,

an associate of Mr. Wilson who is a surveyor.  He based his analysis on

Mr. Wilson' s assertion that he — Mr. Wilson — wanted the tidelands in

the 2006 transaction. ( CP 344) He interpreted the phrase " and as conveyed

in Parcel " J" of( the 1984 Deed)" in the description of Parcel A in the 2006

Deed to mean all tidelands described in " J" the 1984 Deed that Terra

Firma owned at the time of the 2006 transaction.  He made this statement

in the absence of any language in the deed to that effect.     He

acknowledged that the use of virtually the same phrase in the Exception

10



Deeds would mean that International Paper Realty Corporation was

conveying all the tidelands that it owned at the time notwithstanding the

fact that the same language was used in five of the six Exception Deeds

and that such an interpretation of the language would mean that

International Paper Realty Corporation had conveyed the same tidelands

multiple times.  ( CP 344)

Mr. Woodruff justified the change in his conclusion by referring to

information that he had received from Mr. Hampton and indications that

Mr. Wilson believed that he had contracted to purchase the tidelands.  ( CP

516)  He concluded that the phrase " and as conveyed in Parcel ` J' ( of the

1984 Deed)" refers to all tidelands in Parcel " J" because the two parcels

mentioned in the 2006 Deed are contained in Parcel " J."  He makes this

statement while acknowledging that tidelands abutting other parcels are

also described in Parcel " J."  Mr. Woodruff recognized, however, that Mr.

Wilson received all the tidelands described in Parcel " J" of the 1984 Deed

including those that had already been conveyed to others through the

Exception Deeds.  ( CP 351)

Keystone presented a declaration from Dennis Gish, a title officer

with approximately thirty-seven years of experience.  ( CP 297)  He

concluded that the absence of any reference to tidelands in the description

for Parcel B meant that those tidelands were not conveyed.  He first noted

11



that tidelands can have fee simple ownership independent of the

ownership of abutting uplands. He rejected Mr. Woodruff' s conclusion

because it would mean that Terra Firma had conveyed tidelands in the

2006 Deed that had already been conveyed out in the Exception Deeds.

He also rejected Mr. Hampton' s conclusion because that was not what the

description said.   ( CP 301- 303)  Finally, Mr. Gish noted that there were

other uplands within Parcel " J" of the 1984 Deed that were not referred to

in the Exception Deeds.  The tidelands abutting those parcels not referred

to in the Exception Deeds would have been conveyed to Radakovich

Construction in the 1987 Deed and would have been owned by Terra

Firma in 2006 in the absence of some other deed conveying those

tidelands to some other party.  (CP 304)

Each of the three stated that if he had prepared the legal description

for Parcel B and wanted to indicate that the tidelands in front of that parcel

were being conveyed, he would have placed language referring to those

tidelands in the legal description of Parcel B in some fashion.  ( CP 302,

343, 349)

Keystone moved to strike certain aspects of the testimony and

exhibits.  ( CP 278- 287, 527- 550)  The trial court granted that motion only

as to that portion of the Declaration of Terry Woodruff referring to what

Mr. Penta told him.  It granted the plaintiffs' summary judgment motion

12



and quieted title in plaintiffs to the tidelands abutting Parcel B.  ( CP 550-

557) Keystone appealed.

ARGUMENT

I.     Standard of Review.

This case was decided on summary judgment.   The Appellate

Court reviews the trial court' s order for summary judgment de novo

performing the same inquiry as the trial court. Ruvalcaba v. Kwang Ho

Baek, 175 Wn.2d 1- 6, 282 P.3d 1083 ( 2012).

Summary judgment is appropriate if the pleadings, depositions,

and other materials show that there is no genuine issue as to any material

fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

CR 56( c).  The moving party bears the initial burden of demonstrating the

absence of a genuine issue of material fact.  Atherton Condominium

Apartment- Owners Association Board of Directors v. Blume Development

Company, 115 Wn.2d 506, 516, 799 P.2d 250 ( 1990). The facts that the

moving party submits must be facts that would be admissible in evidence.

CR 56( c). If the moving party makes the required initial showing, the

burden then shifts to the nonmoving party to demonstrate the existence of

a genuine issue of material fact.  Meyer v. University of Washington, 105

Wn.2d 847,  852,  719 P.2d 98  ( 1986). All evidence submitted and all
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reasonable inferences from such evidence must be considered in the light

most favorable to the nonmoving party.  McPhaden v. Scott, 95 Wn.App.

431, 434, 975 P.2d 1033 ( 1999).

Finally, when the facts are not in dispute, summary judgment may

be awarded to the non-moving party.    Impecoven v.  Department of

Revenue,  122 Wn.2d 357, 365, 841 P.2d 752 ( 1992).   In this case, the

material facts require the conclusion that 2006 deed by its terms did not

convey to Mr.  Wilson the tidelands abutting Parcel B.    Keystone is

therefore entitled to summary judgment and an order establishing that it

owns the tidelands in question.

II.   The Language of the Legal Description in the 2006 Deed Cannot

Be Interpreted to Convey the Tidelands Abutting Parcel B.

a. Introduction.

What is conveyed in any deed is determined by the deed' s

legal description.  The description in the 2006 Deed is clear.  The tidelands

abutting Parcel A were conveyed while those abutting Parcel B were not.

b. Rules for Interpretation of Deeds.

The result in this case depends on the interpretation of the

legal description of Parcel B contained in the 2006 Deed. While the goal

of the process of interpretation is to effectuate the parties' intentions, those

intentions must be derived in the first instance from the four corners of the

14



deed and its language.  Hanson Industries, Inc., v. County ofSpokane, 114

Wn.App. 523, 527, 58 P.3d 910 ( 2002); Newport Yacht Basin Association

ofCondominium Owners v. Supreme Northwest, Inc., 168 Wn.App. 56, 64,

277 P.3d 18 ( 2012). The words within a deed must be given their ordinary

meaning. McKillop v. Crown Zellerbach, Inc., 46 Wn.App. 870, 873, 733

P.2d 559  ( 1987).  If that language is unambiguous,  extrinsic evidence

cannot be considered to determine the deed' s meaning.  Zobrist v. Culp, 95

Wn.2d 556,  560,  627 P.2d 1308  ( 1981);  Sunnyside Valley Irrigation

District v. Dickie, 149 Wn.2d 873, 880, 73 P.3d 369 ( 2003); Newport Yacht

Basin Association of Condominium Owners v. Supreme Northwest, Inc.,

supra, 168 Wn.App. at 69- 71.

The language in a deed is ambiguous only if it is capable of

two or more meanings.  Hoglund v.  Omak Wood Products,  Inc.,  81

Wn.App. 501, 504, 914 P.2d 1197 ( 1996). When a court is called upon to

interpret a deed, it applies the same principles as it would to any other

contract. Alby v. Banc One Financial, 119 Wn.App. 513, 518, 82 P.3d 675

2003).  That means that, just as with a contract, an ambiguity in a deed

cannot be created by a strained or forced construction. E-Z Motor Loader

Trailers, Inc. v.  Travelers Indemnity Co., 106 Wn.2d 901, 907, 726 P.2d

439 ( 1986); Eurick v. Pemco Insurance Co., 108 Wn.2d 338, 341, 738 P.2d

251 ( 1987).
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c. The Language of the Deed Unambiguously Includes

Tidelands Abutting Parcel A But Does Not Include Tidelands Abutting

Parcel B.

The legal description in the 2006 Deed explicitly includes

tidelands abutting Parcel A. There is no similar language in the description

for Parcel B.    As Mr.  Gish indicated in his declaration,  only one

conclusion is possible— the tidelands abutting Parcel B were not included

within the grant of the 2006 Deed while the tidelands adjacent to Parcel A

were. That means that Terra Firma still had the tidelands when it conveyed

them to Keystone in 2012 and that Keystone is the fee simple owner of the

Tidelands.

Mr.  Gish is not the only person who came to this

conclusion.  Chicago Title said the same thing in the report it prepared for

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