No. 46080-7
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

Barlow Point Land Company, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company; and Port of Longview, a municipal corporation,

Plaintiffs/Respondents,

vs.

Keystone Properties I, LLC,

Defendant/Appellant

FILED
CLERK OF COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
JUL 10 2008
11:09 AM
COUNTY OF SNOHOMISH

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT

HONORABLE STEPHEN WARNING

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

MARK C. SCHEIBMEIR
Attorney for Respondent Port of Longview
Hillier, Scheibmeir, Vey & Kelly, P.S.
P. O. Box 939
Chehalis, Washington 98532
(360) 748-3386

SETH A. WOOLSON
Attorney for Respondent Barlow Point
Land Company, LLC
Chmelik Sitkin & Davis, P.S.

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

ARGUMENT

1. The Wilson Deed is Ambiguous with Respect to Tidelands.

As previously noted, in their Motion for Summary Judgment BPLC and the Port first asserted that the legal description to Parcel A in the Wilson Deed includes the tidelands adjoining Parcel B. (CP 34) The legal description of Parcel A is:

Parcel A:

Lot 2 of Short Subdivision No. 91-001, as recorded in Volume 6 of Short Plats, page 83, under Auditor's File No. 910204032; and being a portion of the George Barlow Donation Land Claim; TOGETHER WITH all tidelands of the second class, situated in front of, adjacent to or abutting the above described uplands **and as conveyed in Parcel "J" of said Deed, Volume 977, page 242, (Fee No. 840924042).**

BPLC and the Port argued that this legal description contains two, separate conveyances of tidelands: (1) "all tidelands . . . adjacent to the described uplands" (that is, those adjacent to Parcel A), and (2) "those tidelands as conveyed in Parcel "J" of said Deed, Volume 977, page 242 (Fee No. 840924042)." (CP 191, 198-200)

The reference to "Parcel J of said Deed" is to a 1984 conveyance of tidelands from International Paper Company to International Paper Realty Corporation. Parcel J in that deed

conveys a length of tidelands which includes all of the tidelands adjacent to Parcel A and Parcel B. Therefore, the additional conveyance to Mr. Wilson of "those tidelands conveyed in Parcel J" includes the tidelands adjoining Parcel B. (CP 191)

This argument was supported by the expert opinions of Cal Hampton, a licensed surveyor, and Terry Woodruff, Senior Title Officer for Cowlitz Title. Both experts believe that the Wilson Deed includes the Parcel B Tidelands by its addition of those tidelands as conveyed in Parcel J. (CP 191, 516) Mr. Hampton and Mr. Woodruff note that numerous facts support their opinion:

- The conveyance of the Parcel A tidelands is complete without this additional language. Therefore, the only purpose of the extra clause is to convey additional tidelands - those contained in Parcel J (that is, the Parcel B Tidelands). (CP 190)

- Neither the Purchase Agreement or the Wilson Deed expressly excludes any tidelands from the sale. Had the seller intended to reserve these tidelands the legal description for Parcel B would have included "also excepting therefrom second class tidelands lying in front of the described parcel." (CP 190)

- The Purchase Agreement promises that Mr. Wilson will be conveyed "a minimum of twenty acres". (CP 192) This amount of acreage cannot be conveyed unless the Parcel B Tidelands are included. (CP 192)

- Neither the Purchase Agreement or the Wilson Deed reserve any easement for access to the tidelands. It is illogical that the seller would retain the tidelands and yet not give itself access to them. (CP 192)

Keystone countered these arguments with the declaration of its expert, Dennis Gish, title officer for another title company. Mr. Gish expressed the opinion that the language conveying those tidelands "as conveyed in Parcel J" does not mean what it says. (CP 304) Mr. Gish reached this opinion by examining the chain of title to several nearby (but unrelated) parcels and noted that they, too, included the same "and as conveyed in Parcel J" language. (CP 303-304) Mr. Gish believes that the repeated use of this phrase renders it meaningless and that it is merely a useless appendage. (CP 304)

Based upon Mr. Gish's opinion Keystone argued that the Wilson Deed is "unambiguous" and that it does not include the Parcel B Tidelands. (CP 243) Further, it argues that if the deed is

unambiguous then all extrinsic evidence of the parties' intent is irrelevant. (CP 243-244)

The trial court disagreed with both sides' interpretation of the Wilson Deed. Instead it concluded that the Wilson Deed is ambiguous, that is, it is capable of more than one meaning. The trial court noted that neither side's experts based their opinion on the "four corners" of the Wilson Deed: Mr. Hampton and Mr. Woodruff reached their opinion not just on the language of the Wilson Deed but also on the Purchase Agreement, the conduct of the parties and language absent from the Wilson Deed (reservation of tidelands, easement, etc.). (RP 7, CP 516, 192) Similarly, Keystone's expert, Mr. Gish, did not rely at all on the language in the Wilson Deed, or on other deeds in the chain of title to the property, but rather on language found in deeds in the chains of title to other, unrelated properties. (RP 7) The trial court concluded that each side's experts were basing their opinions not on what the Wilson Deed said but rather on all of the evidence surrounding the Wilson Deed. (RP 7) This meant that the language of the Wilson Deed, without reliance on other evidence, did not have a single, clear meaning and was instead capable of

more than one meaning. (RP 7) In short, the Wilson Deed was ambiguous. (RP 7)

Our courts have frequently stated that "where a statement is capable of two meanings it is ambiguous". *Newport Yacht Basin Ass'n of Condominium Owners v. Supreme Northwest, Inc.*, 168 Wn. App. 56, 66, 277 P.3d 18 (2012) quoting *Hoglund v. Omak Wood Products*, 81 Wn. App. 501, 504, 914 P.2d 1197 (1996); See *Ladum v. Utility Cartage, Inc.*, 68 Wn.2d 109, 116, 411 P.2d 868 (1966). "Ambiguity" has also been defined as "an uncertainty of meaning in the terms of a written instrument." *State Bank of Wilbur v. Phillips*, 11 Wn.2d 483, 488, 119 P.2d 664 (1941) quoting *First Nat. Bank v. Hancock Warehouse Co.*, 142 Ga. 99 (Ga. 1914), 82 S.E. 481.

The question of ambiguity is a matter of law to be determined by the trial court. *Newport Yacht Basin, supra* at 67; *Hoglund, supra* at 504.

On appeal Keystone continues to argue that the Wilson Deed is unambiguous and that its interpretation is the only reasonable one. But, as noted by the trial court, Keystone does not argue that the language of the Wilson Deed has a clear meaning, but rather that what appears to be the clear meaning (that

additional Parcel J tidelands are included) is in fact incorrect. (RP7) This interpretation can hardly be said to be unambiguous. Further, it is directly in opposition to the position taken by two other experts, Mr. Hampton and Mr. Woodruff, whose opinions are well supported. Finally, it must be remembered that neither Mr. Radakovich, Jr. or his father understood the Wilson Deed to have this meaning, as neither believed that they owned the Parcel B Tidelands after the sale to Mr. Wilson. (CP 84-87, 210) If Keystone's interpretation is unambiguous it begs the question as to why the sellers were unaware of this meaning.

Keystone also argues that, because its expert offers a different interpretation of the Wilson Deed, this raises a question of fact. But this argument fails to recognize that whether a deed is ambiguous is not a question of fact. *It is a question of law to be determined by the trial court. Newport Yacht Basin, supra* at 67; *Hoglund, supra* at 504.

In summary, the issue of ambiguity is a question of law to be determined by the trial court. The trial court examined the competing theories as to the meaning of the language in the Wilson Deed and concluded that the language is capable of more

than one meaning and is therefore ambiguous. (RP 7) This finding should be upheld on appeal.

2(A). The Ambiguity in the Wilson Deed is Resolved by Overwhelming Evidence that the Parties Intended to Include the Parcel B Tidelands in the Wilson Deed.

"Where ambiguity exists, extrinsic evidence may be considered in ascertaining the intention of the parties." *Newport Yacht Basin Ass'n of Condominium Owners v. Supreme Northwest, Inc.*, 168 Wn. App. 56, 65 277 P.3d 18 (2012) citing *Sunnyside Valley Irrigation District v. Dickie*, 149 Wn. 2d 873, 880, 73 P.3d 369 (Wash. 2003). "In such a situation, we will consider the circumstances of the transaction and the subsequent conduct of the parties in determining their intent at the time the deed was executed." *Newport Yacht Basin Ass'n of Condominium Owners v. Supreme Northwest, Inc.*, 168 Wn. App. 56, 65, 66, 277 P.3d 18 (2012) citing *King County v. Hanson Inv. Co.*, 34 Wash.2d 112, 126, 208 P.2d 113 (1949).

"In *Gold Bar v. Gold Bar Lbr. Co.*, 109 Wash. 391, 394, 186 Pac. 896 (1920), this court approved the following rule regarding the construction of deeds:

"Where a deed is of doubtful meaning, or the language used is ambiguous, the construction given by the parties themselves, as elucidated by their conduct or admissions, will be deemed the true one unless the contrary be shown.

A deed which is ambiguous or uncertain may be definite and certain by the practical construction of the parties to it while in interest. The construction put on such a deed by the parties is an indication of their intention. Therefore, where the construction of a deed is doubtful, great weight is to be given to the construction put on it by the parties, especially in the case of doubtful questions which must be presumed to be within their knowledge, and such *practical interpretation of the parties themselves by*

their acts under a deed is entitled to great, if not controlling, influence."

Where a deed is of doubtful meaning, or the language used is ambiguous, the construction given by the parties themselves, as elucidated by their conduct or admissions, will be deemed the true one, unless the contrary is shown. So, where all parties have acted on a particular construction, such construction should be followed unless it is forbidden by some positive rule of law." (Internal citations omitted)

King County v. Hanson Investment Co., 34 Wn.2d 112, 126, 208 P.2d 113 (1949) citing 16 Am. Jur. 536, Deeds § 174 and also citing 26 C. J. S. 346, Deeds § 93.

"This court has adopted the 'context rule' which succinctly stated is that 'extrinsic evidence is admissible as to the entire circumstances under which a contract is made as an aid in ascertaining the party's intent. . . .

The purchase and sale agreement . . . may be considered as some evidence of the circumstances of the parties at the time of the grant."

Harris v. Ski Parks Farms, 120 Wn.2d 727, 742, 743, 844 P.2d 1006 (1993).

Although the intent of the parties to the Wilson Deed is a question of fact, "where reasonable minds could reach but one conclusion from the admissible facts in evidence, summary judgment should be granted."

White v. State, 131 Wn.2d 1, 9, 929 P.2d 396 (1997) citing *LaMon v. Butler*, 112 Wn.2d 193, 199, 770 P.2d 1027 (1989).

After concluding that the Wilson Deed was ambiguous as to whether the Parcel B Tidelands were included, the trial court further concluded that there are no material issues of fact and that extrinsic evidence overwhelmingly demonstrates the parties' intent to convey the Parcel B Tidelands. (RP 7)

There is ample support for the trial court's decision:

- Terra Firma agreed to sell, and Mr. Wilson agreed to buy, all of the property represented by Tax Parcels 713 and 714. These parcels represented all shorelands and tidelands owned by Terra Firma, as demonstrated by the confidential appraisal Radakovich Jr. shared. (CP 490, 497-499))

- In the Purchase Agreement Terra Firma promised that it was selling Mr. Wilson a minimum of twenty acres. (CP 82) This amount of acreage is only achieved if the Parcel B Tidelands are included. (CP 192)

- Neither the Purchase Agreement nor the Wilson Deed reserves tidelands to the seller. (CP 83, 192)

- Neither the Purchase Agreement or the Wilson Deed reserves an easement to the tidelands. If it had been the seller's intent to retain them it would have been left with no access to them. (CP 83, 192)

- Before the sale Mr. Radakovich, Jr reminded Mr. Wilson . of the value of the tidelands Mr. Wilson was about to purchase. (CP 82)
- After the sale Mr. Radakovich, Jr. made repeated efforts, in writing, to repurchase the Parcel B Tidelands, offering to pay \$100,000 or trade substantial property in exchange for a portion of them. (CP 84-85)
- When Mr. Wilson refused all of these offers Mr. Radakovich, Jr. lamented his sale of the Parcel B Tidelands in a lengthy email, expressing his need to "get the tidelands back". (CP 85-86)
- From 2006 through 2011, Mr. Wilson made continuous and extensive use of the tidelands for his duck boat business, with one hundred landings on the tidelands each year. (CP 87)
- From 2006 through 2011, Mr. Wilson paid all property taxes on Parcels 713 and 714. Terra Firma did not pay property taxes on any tidelands. (CP 88, 177-181)
- In litigation between the parties lasting from 2008 into 2009 and culminating in trial, the owners of Terra Firma not only failed to claim ownership of the tidelands but acknowledged that they belonged to Mr. Wilson. (CP 492-493)
- In 2010 Mr. Wilson submitted five permanent mooring applications to the State of Washington for sites along the Parcel B

Tidelands - applications that could only be submitted if he was owner of the tidelands. (CP 87, 493)

- In his responding declaration Mr. Radakovich, Jr. admits that he thought the tidelands belonged to Mr. Wilson. (CP 330-331)

- In his responding declaration Mr. Radakovich, Sr. admits that from 2006 through 2011, a period of six years, he thought that the tidelands belonged to Mr. Wilson (only to then "realize that he owned them" in 2012). (CP 330)

- Cementing this list are the sworn declarations of Mr. Radakovich, Jr. and Sr., made under penalty of perjury to a State Court in 2008 and a Federal Court in 2011 that they and their company, Terra Firma, did not own any tidelands. (CP 491)

In response to this long list Keystone makes only a feeble challenge. It questions the exact number of times Mr. Wilson's duck boats actually landed on the tidelands. It attempts to excuse Mr. Radakovich's sworn declarations on the basis that ownership of the tidelands was not directly at issue in his lawsuit against Mr. Wilson (although access to the tidelands was) but does not explain why this fact somehow lessens the admission (Keystone may be confusing the issue of the parties' intent with judicial estoppel). It attempts to excuse Mr. Radakovich, Sr.'s sworn

declaration on the basis that it was not until 2012, six years after the sale, that he "realized" he owned the tidelands - a startling claim which, even if true, merely proves that for six years he thought the sale included the tidelands.

What is striking about Keystone's response is the complete lack of any evidence showing a contrary intent. Keystone does not submit any statements from Terra Firma's owners expressing a contrary intent; or any admissions by Mr. Wilson contrary to his claims; or any use of the tidelands except by Mr. Wilson; or any payment of taxes except by Mr. Wilson, or any other evidence supporting the claim that the owners of Terra Firma did not intend to include the Parcel B Tidelands in the Wilson Deed. Stated differently, Keystone has made only a meager attempt to challenge some of the Plaintiffs' evidence while not offering any evidence in reply. Simply stated, the only evidence of the parties' intent to the Wilson Deed is that submitted by BPLC and the Port which overwhelmingly demonstrates Terra Firma's and Mr. Wilson's intent to transfer the Parcel B Tidelands to Mr. Wilson

"A nonmoving party may not rely on speculation or on argumentative assertions that unresolved factual issues remain." *White v. State*, 131 Wn.2d 1, 9, 929 P.2d 396 (1997). "After the moving party

submits adequate affidavits, the nonmoving party must set forth specific facts which sufficiently rebut the moving parties' contentions and disclose the existence of a genuine issue as to a material fact." *White v. State*, 131 Wn.2d 1, 9, 929 P.2d 396 (1997) quoting *Meyer v. University of Wash.*, 105 Wash.2d 847, 852, 719 P.2d 98 (1986). "Where reasonable minds could reach but one conclusion from the admissible facts at evidence, summary judgment should be granted." *White v. State*, 131 Wn.2d 1, 9, 929 P.2d 396 (1997) citing *LaMon v. Butler*, 112 Wn.2d 193, 199, 770 P.2d 1027 (1989).

Keystone has not disclosed the existence of any genuine issue as to the parties' intent. The trial court properly concluded that the evidence overwhelmingly demonstrates the parties' intent to include the Parcel B Tidelands in the conveyance to Mr. Wilson.

2(B). The Extrinsic Evidence of the Parties' Intent is Admissible.

In response to the Plaintiffs' evidence of the parties' intent to convey the tidelands Keystone moved to strike various statements and documents claiming them to be inadmissible hearsay. The trial court properly denied Keystone's Motion to Strike. (RP 5) On appeal Keystone has renewed its argument that the various admissions, statements, emails,

offers to purchase, etc., made by Terra Firma's owners are inadmissible under ER 803.

Keystone's objection is misplaced for two reasons: (1) our courts have recognized that all such evidence is admissible when determining the parties' intent; and (2) none of this evidence constitutes hearsay, that is, it is not submitted to prove the truth of the matter asserted.

I. The Conduct, Statements and Admissions of Parties to a Deed are Admissible in Determining Their Intent.

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